

# **Glenwood South Canterbury Trust**





# E tū Incorporated and The New Zealand Nurses Organisation

# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

1 August 2024 - 28 February 2026

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1,	3 STEEL STORY TO STEEL STORY TO STORY THE STORY TO STORY THE STORY TO STORY THE STORY
2.	
3,	COVERAGE
4.	TERM OF AGREEMENT
5.	VARIATION
6,	HOURS OF WORK
7.	VARIATION TO STAFFING STRUCTURE AND HOURS OF WORK
8.	WAGES AND ALLOWANCES
' <b>9</b> ,	PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 8
10	. YOUTH EMPLOYEES8
11	. CASUAL EMPLOYEES8
12.	PUBLICHOLIDAYS
13.	ANNUAL LEAVE
14.	LONG SERVICE LEAVE
15.	SICK AND DOMESTIC LEAVE
16.	
17.	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
18.	PARENTALLEAVE
19,	FAMILY FRIENDLY PRACTICES12
20.	JURY SERVICE
21.	PREFERENCE CLAUSE
22.	GENERAL PROVISIONS
23.	STAFF TRAINING AND EDUCATION
24.	RESOLUTION OF FMPI OVACENT DEVATIONISHED PROPERTY
25.	RESOLUTION OF EMPLOYMENT REKATIONSHIP PROBLEMS
26.	TERMINATION/RESIGNATION OF ENABLOYS AND THE TERMINATION OF THE TER
27.	TERMINATION/RESIGNATION OF EMPLOYMENT
28.	UNIFORMS
29.	UNION FEES AND CLAUSES
30.	PERFORMANCE AND DISCIPLINE
31.	SECURITY
32.	SAFE STAFFING AND HEALTHY WORKPLACES
33.	EMPLOYEE PROTECTION/RESTRUCTURING PROVISIONS
	CONFIDENTIALITY
34.	PASS ON

#### PHILOSOPHY OF GLENWOOD HOME AND COMMUNITY

Glenwood South Canterbury Trust endeavours to provide a safe, supportive, and caring environment for people in their advancing years within Glenwood Community (comprising village, home, and hospital). This will be achieved by the working together with the Trust Board, staff and the residents and their families to ensure a better understanding of the ageing process and associated limitations to guide the delivery of exemplary care. Glenwood endeavours to maintain a healthy working environment and to be a good employer, and to have safe staffing levels on each shift, with an appropriate mix of skills and knowledge.

All our residents have the right to high standards of care, support, and respect, and to have their privacy and independence safeguarded as much as possible.

A staff handbook has been developed to assist and serve as a resource and guide to be observed by all employees.

#### 2. PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT

Between Glenwood South Canterbury Trust

and

E tử incorporated hereafter known as E tử or the unions

and
The New Zealand Nurses Organisation hereafter known as NZNO or the unions

#### 3. COVERAGE

- 3.1. To provide terms and conditions of employment for those members of E tū incorporated or The New Zealand Nurses Organisation who are employed as Registered Nurses, Enrolled Nurses, Health Care Assistants (HCAs), Cleaners, Kitchen Staff, Activities Officers, Diversional Therapists, Laundry Staff, Caretakers, Gardener, Administration, and any other E tū members employed at Glenwood Home, Timaru, under the provisions of the Employment Relations Act 2000.
- 3.2. Managerial roles, including those who may be a registered nurse, are excluded from the coverage of this agreement.
- 3.3. All new employees who are covered by clause 3.1 for the first 30 days, during which time they can choose to become a member of E tū or NZNO and continue to be covered by this CA after the first 30 days has expired. Due to the constructive nature of the ongoing relationship between Glenwood Home and the Unions, Glenwood Home will continue to respect and facilitate enquiries regarding Union Membership. The induction package for all new employees will include an introduction to on-site Union delegates.
- 3.4. This Agreement supersedes any previous agreements, arrangements, understanding or individual terms of employment that may have applied prior to the signing of this contract.
- 3.5. Savings Clause Except where the employer party and the employee mutually agree in writing, no worker shall have their wages or hours of work reduced by virtue of the coming into effect of this agreement.



3.6. The employee parties to this contract agree to abide by the rules, regulations, policies and/or procedures as may be current from time to time to ensure the smooth operation of Glenwood Community and achieve the philosophy of the employer.

#### 4. TERM OF AGREEMENT

4.1. The term of the Collective Agreement shall come into force on 1 August 2024 and expire on 28 February 2026.

#### 5. VARIATION

5.1. Where the employer and employee agree in writing, this agreement may be varied where that variation is seen to be necessary or desirable. Such variation shall be recorded in writing, be appended to, and shall then form part of the contract of employment.

#### 6. HOURS OF WORK

- 6.1. The ordinary hours of work shall not exceed 80 hours per fortnight, to be worked on any five days of the seven days of the week. However, additional hours may be worked by mutual agreement.
- 6.2. No duty shall exceed eight hours of work without the payment of overtime.
- 6.3. The employee shall not be required to work longer than five hours without a half-hour meal break.
- 6.4. The employee shall not be required to work longer than two and a half hours without a ten-minute refreshment break.
- 6.5. Meal and tea breaks will normally be staggered. In arranging the breaks, clinical staff will ensure that cover is available at all times
- 6.6. Employees may be required to work broken shifts. No shift shall be less than two hours, and an allowance of \$3.03 shall be paid where the break exceeds one hour. Where an employee chooses to cover another staff members' shift (by reason of Illness, annual leave, etc.), the second shift shall not be considered a broken shift unless by prior agreement with management.
- 6.7. Hours of work on broken shifts shall be completed within a period of twelve hours computed from starting to finishing time, including meal and refreshment breaks.
- 6.8. No employee shall be rostered to commence duties less than eight and a half hours after the termination of the previous full duty.
- 6.9. Employees whose duty falls between the hours of 11.00 pm and 7.00 am the following day shall be paid the "night rate" specified.



- 6.10. Duty rosters, specifying the number of hours to be worked per day, the days of the week on which work is to be performed, and the starting and finishing times, shall be notified two weeks in advance to employees. Duty Rosters shall be prepared for a six-week period in each instance.
- 6.11. Duty rosters shall not be changed during the six-week period without the agreement of the employee except in an emergency.
- 6.12. Employees shall only exchange duties with the employer's approval.
- 6.13. Employees shall make every endeavour to communicate absence/reason for absence to the employer. Where an employee absents herself/himself from work for two consecutive rostered days of work without the consent of the employer, or, without satisfactory cause, she/he shall be deemed to have terminated her/his employment.

#### 7. VARIATION TO STAFFING STRUCTURE AND HOURS OF WORK

- 7.1. The employer may, for commercial reasons due to trading circumstances, change the specified hours of work or duties of any employee in consultation with staff. All substantive changes should also involve consultation with the Union.
- 7.2. Where a change of hours or duties is necessary, the employer will, in the first instance, seek submissions to the proposal and voluntary employee offers to change.
- 7.3. Where there are insufficient voluntary employee offers to change, the employer will consult with individual employees likely to be affected by the change, in an effort to mutually agree on the change. Whenever practical, reduced hours will be spread as evenly as possible.
- 7.4. Where actions are taken in respect of 7.1, 7.2, and 7.3 above fail to produce the necessary changes to hours of work, the employer may affect the change by giving two weeks' notice in writing to the employees affected.
- 7.5. Whenever practical, an employee whose hours of work or duties have been changed will be given first preference to return to his/her former duties if circumstances permit.

#### 8. WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

8.1. Progression is by annual increment at anniversary date subject to satisfactory performance which will be assumed to be the case unless the employee is otherwise advised.

Registered Nurse	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	\$35.93
Step 2	\$38.17
Step 3	\$40.32
Step 4	\$44.80

CS AN

Enrolled Nurse / Diversional Therapist	1-Aug-2024
Step 1 - unregistered Step 2 - registered	
Step 2	\$32.13

Domestic Staff	1-Aug-2024	
Step 1	\$25.58	
Step 2	\$25.81	
Step 3	\$26.40	

Administration Staff	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	\$29.64
Step 2	\$31.20
Step 3	\$34.24

Cook	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	\$27.50
Step 2 (new)	\$29.65
Step 3 (new)	\$30.72

Senior Cook	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	Move to Step 3 of Cook scale

Kitchen Manager	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	\$29.53
Step 2 (new)	\$34.24

Caretaker/ Maintenance Staff	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	\$28.81
Step 2	\$30.10

Gardener	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	Move to Domestic scale
Step 2	
Step 3	
Head Gardener	\$28.60

Healthcare Assistant & Activities Coordinator	1-Aug-2024
Step 1	\$25.58
Step 2	\$26.46
Step 3	\$28.77
Step 4	\$31.06

Cog all

- 8.2. Glenwood agrees to take all reasonably practicable steps to provide support for care and support workers to attain qualifications.
- a) a level 2 qualification within the first 12 months of the worker's continuous employment with the employer; and
- b) a level 3 qualification within the first 24 months of the worker's continuous employment with the employer; and
- c) a level 4 qualification within the first 36 months of the worker's continuous employment with the employer.
  - 8.3. The above rates are minimum rates. Management is at liberty to pay wages in excess of these minimum rates. Progression to the next pay step is paid on the anniversary of the staff members starting date, and staff must meet all of the specified staff educational requirements. Pay rates will only be made as per these steps, and any skipping of the steps will only be considered for extraordinary work performance over the year. All workplace-related training, as required by the employer, will be paid by the employer, i.e. course materials and attendance at required course-related training, e.g. Health and Safety, First Aid.
  - 8.4. Wages shall be paid fortnightly by direct credit to the employee's nominated bank account. Wages will be processed through the Employer's banking facility on the Wednesday immediately following the end of the pay period, to be available after midnight that night, which is Thursday morning. The pay period runs from Monday to Sunday. The exception is when a public holiday intervenes with the payday in which case wages shall be paid on the next working day.
  - 8.5. The employer shall provide details of how an employee's pay has been calculated.
  - 8.6. The employer shall be entitled to make a ratable deduction from an employee's wages due to the default of that employee, or for sickness in excess of paid sick leave entitlement or agreed over-payment of wages pursuant to the "Wages Protection Act."
  - 8.7. Time worked in excess of the ordinary hours specified, shall be paid at the rate of time and a half for the first three hours and double time thereafter. This clause shall not apply to overtime hours worked as a result of arrangements made between individual employees.
  - 8.8. A meal will be provided to all employees required to work overtime for more than one hour at the completion of their usual shift if such overtime extends into their meal break entitlement.
  - 8.9. A meal will be provided for all staff required by management to stay on-site during their meal breaks.
  - 8.10. A night rate allowance of \$2,50 per hour will be paid to staff across the hours of 11 pm, and 7 am the following day. The night rate allowance does not apply to Registered Nurses who will be paid at T1.25 of their rate for these hours



- 8.11. A short notice shift allowance of \$1.75 per hour will be paid to an employee who is requested and agrees to commence a shift within 2 hours of being contacted by the manager or duty leader. The allowance will be paid for all hours worked on that shift.
- 8.12. A weekend allowance of \$6.00 per hour will be paid for all hours worked by all staff between the hours of midnight Friday, and 7 am Monday morning. The weekend allowance does not apply to Registered Nurses who will be paid at T1.5 of their rates for these hours
- 8.13. All staff will be paid a minimum of 2 hours in any circumstances when they are required to work by the employer for periods under 2 hours.
- 8.14. An On-Call allowance of \$40.00 per day is to be paid to RNs who are required to be on call.
  - a. If an RN is called in on a public holiday, they shall receive T1.5 for all hours worked and a day in lieu.
  - b. If an RN is called in on a weekend, they shall receive T1.5 for all hours worked.
  - c. An RN will receive a minimum of two hours pay for any call in attended
- 8.15. Higher Duties Allowance of \$1.00 per hour will be paid when a person takes on the role and responsibility of a senior staff person for more than a week

# 9. PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

9.1. Permanent Part-time employees are employees who are regularly employed for less than forty hours per week. Part-time employees are covered in this Employment Agreement and shall be entitled to receive pro-rata, the entitlements provided in this contract subject to Clause 3 of this Agreement.

#### 10. YOUTH EMPLOYEES

10.1. Youth employees will be paid as per the requirements of the Minimum Wage (New Entrants) Amendment Act 2007.

#### 11. CASUAL EMPLOYEES

11.1. Casual employees are employees, employed on an "as and when required" basis. Casual employees shall be paid a minimum of two hours on any day they are required to work. Casual employees are included in this Employment Agreement and shall be entitled to receive pro-rata, the entitlements provided in this contract subject to Clause 3 of this Agreement.

#### 12. PUBLIC HOLIDAYS

- 12.1. Public holidays shall be allowed in accordance with the provisions of the Holidays Act 2003 which provides for 12 paid holidays each year where the public holidays fall on days that would otherwise be working days for the employee.
- 12.2. The public holidays shall be:
  - Christmas Day
  - Boxing Day
  - New Year's Day

Co de

- 2nd January
- Good Friday
- Easter Monday
- ANZAC Day
- Labour Day
- Waltangi Day
- Anniversary Day
- Birthday of the Reigning Sovereign
- Matariki
- 12.3. The employee agrees that due to the nature of the employer's business, the employee may be required to work on any or all of the public holidays. The employer agrees to try and accommodate requests by employees to have the public holidays off.
- 12.4. Where the employee is not required to work on a public holiday that falls on an ordinary working day for that employee, the employee shall receive payment for the day at the rate of the employee's relevant daily pay.
- 12.5. Where an employee works on any public holiday other than Christmas Day, the employee shall be entitled to one and a half times the ordinary pay for actual hours worked (T1.5).
- 12.6. Where an employee works on Christmas Day, the employee shall be entitled to double the ordinary pay for the actual hours worked (T2).
- 12.7. If the employee works on a public holiday or part of a public holiday and it is a day that would otherwise be a working day for them, then the employee will also be entitled to an alternative holiday (a day in lieu).
- 12.8. An alternative holiday shall be taken on a day that is mutually agreed upon between the employer and the employee. For practical and financial reasons, the employer would prefer that staff take their alternative holiday within three months of accruing the leave and recommend that staff 'tack' this alternative holiday onto their day weekend. An alternative holiday may be taken at a date mutually agreed upon between the employer and the employee. Where mutual agreement cannot be reached, the employee may specify a date but first must take into account the employer's view of the convenience of taking the alternative holiday at that time and must give not less than 14 days' notice to the employer.
- 12.9. If an employee has not taken an alternative holiday within 12 months of the entitlement arising, then:
  - The employer may direct the employee to take such holiday upon giving the employee not less than 14 days' notice; or
  - The employee and employer may agree to exchange the alternative holiday for an agreed payment.



### 13. ANNUAL LEAVE

- 13.1. Annual leave shall be allowed in accordance with the provisions of the Holidays Act 2003. Except as otherwise provided, every employee shall at the end of each year of employment become entitled to an annual holiday of four weeks, pro-rated on the basis of actual hours worked and paid on the basis of the employee's ordinary weekly taxable earnings, or their average weekly earnings over the last twelve months, whichever is the larger.
- 13.2. An employee who has completed eight years continuous service with the employer, shall for the eighth and subsequent years be entitled to FIVE weeks annual leave.
- 13.3. If it is agreed that new employees (who have not completed their first year's continuous service) shall take paid annual leave, then that annual leave shall be calculated as 8% of their gross earnings to date.
- 13.4. Annual leave shall be taken at a time agreed to between the employer and employee, with at least one months' notice in writing, and shall be confirmed within fourteen days. More notice may be required over the Christmas period.
- 13.5. Annual leave must be taken within 12 months after falling due, unless mutually agreed to in writing.

# 14. LONG SERVICE LEAVE AND PAYMENT

- 14.1. An employee shall be entitled to the following special leave in respect of long service:
  - One special payment of \$500 after the completion of 10 years of current continuous service with the employer
  - One special two-week leave after completion of 15 years and before the completion of 25 years of current continuous service with the employer.
  - One special payment of \$1000 after the completion of 20 years of current continuous service with the employer.
  - One special three-week leave after the completion of 25 years and before the completion of 35 years of current continuous service with the employer.
  - One special five-week leave after completion of 35 years current continuous service with the employer.
- 14.2. All such long service leave shall be calculated on ordinary pay as defined in the Holidays Act 2003 and may be taken in one or more periods, and at such time as may be agreed by the employer; based on the employee's ordinary weekly taxable earnings, or their average weekly earnings over the last twelve months, whichever is the larger.

#### 15. SICK AND DOMESTIC LEAVE

15.1. Current permanent employees, on the completion of six months continuous service with the employer, shall be entitled to 10 days sick/domestic leave on ordinary pay. Thereafter, and for each subsequent year of current continuous service with the employer, an employee shall be entitled to 10 days sick/domestic leave on ordinary pay, for each year completed service. Sick/Domestic leave may accumulate up to 45 days.



- 15.2. Sick/domestic leave may be taken when the employee is sick and/or when the employee is required to stay at home due to the illness of the employee's spouse, dependent child, or parent.
- 15.3. The employer may require a medical certificate for absence of three consecutive days or more sick/ domestic leave. However, if a member of staff is excessively going sick, the employer may require a certificate after one day. (This certificate will be at the employer's expense).
- 15.4. The employer is to be advised as soon as practicable on the first day of absence, of staff non-attendance due to sickness or domestic need.
- 15.5. When a situation arises that a staff member has no available sick leave entitlement, then management may provide additional sick leave entitlement. This entitlement will be made (or not made) at the discretion of management and will be considered on each individual set of circumstances on a case-by-case basis.
- 15.6. The employer may approve leave without pay for extended periods with job protection on a discretionary basis.
- 15.7. In considering discretionary leave, the employer shall take into account the following:
  - I. The employee's length of service
  - ii. The employee's attendance record
  - iii. The consequences of not providing the leave
  - iv. Any unusual and/or extenuating circumstances
  - v. If the leave pertains to a notifiable disease or MoH Isolation Advisory

#### 16. FAMILY VIOLENCE

#### 16.1. General Principle

The employer recognises that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance, performance, and/or their safety at work. Therefore, the employer is committed to support staff that experience family violence.

#### 16.2. Entitlements

The employer will support employees who have or are experiencing family violence consistent with the Holidays Act 2003 and the Employment Relations Act 2000 will be entitled to request:

- a) Up to 10 days of paid leave in accordance with Sub-Part 5 of the Holidays Act 2003; and/or
- Flexible working arrangements and other variations to the terms of their employment in accordance with Part 6AB of the Employment Relations Act 2000.
- 16.3. The employer may require proof that an employee is the victim of family violence consistent with the Holidays Act 2003 and the Employment Relations Act 2000.

#### 17. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

Cos at

- 17.1. Paid bereavement leave, up to three consecutive working days shall be allowed to an employee on the death of anyone with whom the employee maintained a family or family-like relationship; or any special case where the employee is responsible for making funeral arrangements.
- 17.2. Bereavement leave or time off work to attend funerals for other people, with whom the employee had a special relationship, may be granted after consultation with the Manager. An additional day may be granted for reasons of cultural sensitivity. Approval will be given on a case-by-case basis and will not be unreasonably withheld.

#### 18. PARENTAL LEAVE

18.1. The provisions of the Parental Leave and Employment Protection Act 1987 apply, notwithstanding the provisions of this agreement.

#### 19. FAMILY FRIENDLY PRACTICES

- 19.1. Glenwood Home is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to all staff and recognizes that to successfully care for our Glenwood family, staff must put their own families' needs first.
- 19.2. All staff are encouraged to take advantage of this family-focused workplace and to take time off work without loss of pay, for the following types of appointments: doctors' appointments, specialists' appointments, dentist appointments, mammograms or other x-ray or investigative procedures, physiotherapy appointments, kindergarten or school appointments or interviews.
- 19.3. We encourage all staff to have both the Flu and Covid vaccinations and will meet the cost of this treatment for staff who do not have access to free treatment.
- 19.4. Special leave, leave for illness, and bereavement leave is generous within the employment agreement and will be considered and extended in individual circumstances. Staff may, for example, have children off-colour who shouldn't go to school; however, they may not be too ill to come to Gienwood and do some quiet activities in one of the smaller lounges while their parent works their shift. This is also encouraged, where appropriate.
- 19.5. While we are not a large enough employer to justify crèche facilities, staff unable to make other arrangements are also able to bring dependents along to in-service meetings.
- 19.6. Staff working nightshift, who are unable to make other arrangements for the care of dependents, are able to bring them along for a 'sleep-over' at the Home. This is permitted by Management to assist in the smooth staffing of the Home and will occur as an exception, as needed to allow staff to work, rather than as a rule.

#### 20. JURY SERVICE

20.1. Where an employee is obliged to undertake Jury Service, the difference between the fees (excluding reimbursement payments) if any, paid by the court and employee's ordinary rate of pay shall be made up by the employer-provided:



- i. the employee produces the court expenses voucher to the employer; and
- ii. the employee returns to duty immediately when not actually serving on a jury.
- 20.2. Payments shall be made up to a maximum of five days in respect of each separate period of jury service.

#### 21. PREFERENCE CLAUSE

21.1. Where it is practical in a non-urgent situation, the employer will attempt to give preference to existing permanent employees to this contract, in offering them additional work that may become available, and to which they are suited, and have indicated their availability for particular shifts/days on the current roster, before engaging casual employees.

#### 22. GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### 22.1. Health and Safety

The parties to this agreement are committed to the observance of safe working practices and to the good health of all employees and the residents for whom they care.

- 22.1.1 The parties to this agreement and the employees covered by it express their commitment to the pursuit of health and safety in employment. The parties and covered employees shall endeavour to meet their obligations under the Health & Safety at Work Act 2015 and all other health and safety legislation promulgated.
- 22.1.2The Employers will take all practicable steps to ensure the safety of the employees covered by this agreement while at work.
- 22.1.3The Employer will provide the employees with the clothing and equipment necessary to safely complete their duties.
- 22.1.4Employees will ensure that they are familiar with and work within all health and safety policies and procedures developed and implemented by the employer and shall:
- Notify employers through incident forms of any work-related hazard employees become aware of as soon as practicable on the day on which the hazard is identified and such notification shall be responded to be the employer in a timely way;
- report any work-related accident, incident, illness, or discomfort to their employer as soon as practicable on the day on which the accident, incident, lliness, or discomfort occurs. Failure to do this may result in Glenwood Home not accepting that the event occurred at work;
- III. notify their employer as soon as practicable and within one working day of filing any work-related claim with ACC. Employees shall also provide copies of the application form, and such other documentary evidence and medical certificates as provided to or by ACC, relating to the employee's continued eligibility for earnings related compensation, in addition to any other information that Glenwood Home may require;
- iv. notify Glenwood Home Immediately of any significant change to the employee's

as de

work duties, place of work or work environment, where such a change has, or is likely to have, an impact on the employee's health;  $VVperiext\ here$ 



- notify Glenwood Home immediately after the employee becomes aware that
  they may be suffering the effects of work-related stress. The employee will cooperate with Glenwood Home by taking any necessary steps to reduce or
  remove the effects of such work-related stress;
- vi. notify Glenwood Home immediately if the employee is suffering from fatigue due to lack of sufficient rest or sleep, and comply with Glenwood Home's instructions to manage this risk;
- vil. participate in any health monitoring activities required by Glenwood Home, as part of its ongoing health and safety policies and procedures. This may include testing for use of drugs and/or alcohol in the workplace, in accordance with Glenwood Home's policies and procedures, and any other similar health surveillance activities adopted by Glenwood Home to monitor and protect the health and safety of workers;
- viii. wear all protective clothing and equipment issued by Glenwood Home as required and safely perform the duties of the employee's position;
- ix. only operate plant or equipment the employee is trained or authorised to use;
- x. participate in the Glenwood Home's health and safety management system to help maintain a safe workplace; and
- xi. undertake alternative duties as are available and within the employee's capability, as Glenwood Home directs where the employee is suffering from any illness or injury impacting their ability to perform the duties of their position.
- xii. take reasonable care not to endanger their own or others wellbeing.

#### 22.2. Conflict of Interest

22.2.1. Employees must not during the employment relationship, be employed by anyone else or directly or indirectly engaged or interested in any other activity, where the employment, engagement or interest creates a conflict of interest with their role including in terms of the protection of the Employer's confidential information or reputation, or in terms of workplace health and safety.

#### 22.3. Incident and injury Reporting

- 22.3.1. The parties acknowledge the requirements of the Health & Safety at Work Act 2015.
- 22.3.2. Procedure: The employee is required to report in writing to Glenwood Home all incidents/accidents/injuries which occur arising out of or during the course of employment before the end of the employee's working day/shift or as soon as practicable after the accident occurs giving the following information:
  - i. the date, time, and location of the incident/accident.
  - ii. the activity in which the employee was engaged at the time the incident/accident occurred.
  - iii. the general nature of any injury suffered by the employee.
  - iv, the names of other people in the vicinity of the incident/accident who may have witnessed what took place.
- 22.3.3. Notification: Glenwood Home shall be notified by the employee within one working day of the filing of any work-related claim with ACC unless exceptional



circumstances prevail. The employee shall also provide Glenwood Home with a copy of the form by which application is made to ACC and copies of such other relevant documentary evidence and medical certificates provided to ACC from time to time, relating to the employee's continued eligibility for ACC.

- 22.3.4. Glenwood Home may require the employee to undergo a further medical examination at Glenwood Home's expense.
- 22.3.5. Glenwood Home shall provide ACC with earnings related compensation information within five (5) working days of receiving such requests.
- 22.3.6. Alternative duties: Glenwood Home may require the employee to return to work and undertake such alternative duties (whether on a full or part time basis) as are available and as are reasonably within the employee's capability and level of fitness as determined in agreement with a medical practitioner and ACC.

#### 22.4. Harassment

22.4.1. The employee and Glenwood Home recognise the undesirability of any form of harassment, coercion, intimidation, exploitation, or discrimination on any of the prohibited grounds listed in the Human Rights Act, in the workplace and that it constitutes unacceptable behaviour which may be investigated. Appropriate disciplinary action up to and including dismissal may occur.

# 22.5. Equal Employment Opportunities

22.5.1. Management recognises that all decisions affecting recruitment, employment, termination, transfer, and promotion will be made, all things being equal, exclusive of any consideration of a person's gender, disability, sexual orientation, religious or ethical beliefs, marital status, race or ethnic or national origins and any other form of discrimination.

# 23. STAFF TRAINING AND EDUCATION

- 23.1. Where the employer requires the employee to undertake training, the cost of that training shall be paid for by the employer, and actual and reasonable previously agreed expenses will be paid on production of receipts.
- 23.2. Support will be provided on an individual basis to assist individual employees to complete the Careerforce training, including times being set aside on-duty time or other paid time to enable completion of the training.
- 23.3. If employees are required to attend training during their normal rostered hours, those employees shall be paid those hours at their normal rate of pay a minimum of one hour shall be paid for all meetings and training.
- 23.4. There is an expectation that staff will attend 75% of paid monthly staff meetings and 75% of paid compulsory in-service meetings, the dates of which will be notified at least 2 weeks in advance. If unable to attend an in-service or staff meeting a staff member will make an apology to the manager and make it their responsibility to ensure they



- bring themselves up to date on the information presented when provided and sign an appropriate record when this is completed. Wherever possible meetings will be kept to within one hour's duration.
- 23.5. Staff are also required to attend at least one of two emergency evacuation practices per year, for which at least 7 days' notice will be given. Of these practices, staff may choose which one they attend, but the employer will only pay for attendance at one evacuation practice.
- 23.6. Registered Nurses and Activities staff are required to attend and pass a First Aid Course every two years that meets the needs of Glenwood Home. Attendance at such a course will be paid, and course costs also met.
- 23.7. The employer will pay annual Practicing Certificates and other Registration costs. Where the employees are engaged by another employer who contributes towards the cost for the employees practicing certification/registration the employer shall pay a proportion of the costs based on the respective hours worked by the employee at Gienwood Home and the other employer. Gienwood Home shall grant professional development leave of 16 hours per calendar year for full-time employees (pro-rated to no less than 8 hours per calendar year for part-time employees) This leave is to enable employees to complete qualifications required for registration; to attend courses and to undertake research or projects that are relevant to the employer, and which facilitate the employee's growth and development. Prior approval of the employer must be obtained. This professional development will be set as a training goal within the employee's appraisal.

#### 24. RESOLUTION OF EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP PROBLEMS

This clause sets out how employment relationship problems are to be resolved.

#### 24.1. Definitions

An "employment relationship problem" includes:

- a) personal grievance;
- b) dispute;
- c) any other problem relating to or arising out of the employment relationship but does not include any problem with the determination of new terms and conditions of employment, e.g. bargaining and contract variation.

A "personal grievance" means a claim that an employee:

a) has been unjustifiably dismissed; or



- b) has had his/her employment, or his/her conditions of employment, affected to his/her disadvantage by some unjustifiable action by the employer; or
- c) has been sexually harassed in his/her employment; or
- d) has been racially harassed in his/her employment or has been subjected to duress in relation to membership or non-membership of a union.

A "dispute" is a disagreement over the interpretation, application, or operation of an empioyment agreement.

24.2. If the employee wishes to raise a personal grievance, he/she must raise the grievance with his/her employer within 90 days of the date of the action alieged to amount to a personal grievance occurring or coming to the notice of the employee whichever is the later.

# RAISING EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP PROBLEMS

- 25.1. The employer should, in the first instance raise any employment relationship problem, with the employee or the employee with the employer as soon as possible.
- 25.2. The employer and/or the employee are entitled to seek advice and assistance from their chosen representative in raising and/or discussing the problem.
- 25.3. If the employee wishes to raise the employment relationship problem with the employer in writing or the matter is not resolved when the employee raises the problem with the employer, the employee should submit to the employer written notice of the personal grievance, dispute or problem covering the following points:
  - a) details of his/her grievance, dispute, or problem; and
  - b) why he/she feels aggrieved
  - c) what solution he/she seeks to resolve the grievance, dispute, or problem
- 25.4. The employee and the employer shall meet to discuss and attempt in good faith to resolve the employment relationship problem. (This process shall constitute "reasonable steps" for the purpose of s.114, Employment Relations Act 2000).
- 25.5. Mediation: Where the employment relationship problem is not resolved by the parties in discussions within 21 days of raising it, the employer or the employee may, without undue delay, seek the assistance of the mediation service through The Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (MBIE).
  - 25.5.1. Both parties must co-operate in good faith with the mediation service in a further effort to resolve the problem.
  - 25.5.2. The employee and employer acknowledge that the service provided by the mediation service is confidential and if it does not resolve the problem is without prejudice to the parties' position.
  - 25.5.3. Any settlement of the problem agreed to by the parties and signed by the mediator will be final and binding.
- 25.6. If the problem is not resolved by mediation, either party may refer the problem to the Employment Relations Authority for Investigation and determination.



25.7. If the party is dissatisfied with the determination of the Employment Relations Authority it may apply to appeal the Employment Relations Authority's determination to the Employment Court.

#### 26. TERMINATION/RESIGNATION OF EMPLOYMENT

- 26.1. Four weeks written notice is required if employment is to be terminated by either party, except in the case of summary dismissal
- 26.2. If this notice is not provided, then the balance may be paid or withheld. The parties may agree otherwise, following consultation, except in the case of summary dismissal.
- 26.3. Final pay will be released once an employee has returned any Glenwood home Uniform, keys, and name badge.

#### 27. UNIFORMS

- 27.1. Any uniforms or other items supplied by the employer to the employee remains the property of the employer and shall be handed in on termination of employment, or at such time that Glenwood Home may require it.
- 27.2. The employee is obliged to wear the uniform blouse/top as provided, and to be in a presentable state at the commencement of their shift. Bottoms should be navy or black and can be shorts, culottes, ¾ pants, trousers, or skirts that are tidy and appropriate to the work being performed and shoes that are appropriate to the work being performed.
- 27.3. A shoe allowance of \$175 per year is to be paid to contribute towards the cost of acceptable footwear. This will be paid to all permanent and casual staff employed on 1st July each year and will be paid in the first pay period after 1st July each year.

#### 28. UNION FEES AND CLAUSES

- 28.1. All charges related to the employee's membership of any employees' organization, shall be deducted from wages in the agreed manner and remitted directly to that organization.
- 28.2. Employment Relations Education Leave: The employer shall release all employees bound by this Collective Agreement on paid education leave. The annual allocation of paid education leave for employees bound by the Collective Agreement will be calculated pursuant to Section 74 of the Employment Relations Act 2000.
- 28.3. Paid Stop Work Meetings: The employer shall release from work, all employees bound by this Collective Agreement to attend two paid stops work meetings per annum, for up to four hours per year.
- 28.4. The employer will recognize the elected employee representatives as notified to the employer by the union.
- 28.5. Secondment to the Union: The employer will be reasonable in allowing the elected employee representative(s) to be seconded to the Union, on Union business and will



consider each case of secondment individually; both to ascertain potential advantages and growth opportunities to the affected employees; the impact upon staffing and the benefits to Glenwood Home; and the financial ramifications to the employee. For any secondment discussions will be held between the Union, employee representative(s) affected, and the Employer.

28.6. Caring Counts and Living Wage, the Board and management will acknowledge the Caring Counts report and the 10 recommendation. The Board will allow the unions to present the Living wage to them and then with the boards' approval to the staff.

## 29. PERFORMANCE AND DISCIPLINE

#### 29.1. General Principles

- 29.1.1. Disciplinary and dismissal procedures will follow principles of procedural fairness and natural justice.
- 29.1.2. The employees accept that should they be convicted of any offence which may fairly and reasonably be considered likely to directly impact on the employee's ability to perform their employment obligations, the employee's employment may be terminated with or without notice.
- 29.1.3. In all cases (whether or serious misconduct or otherwise) the employee will:
  - i. have a right to representation; and
  - il. be advised of that right; and
  - be advised of the nature of the perceived misconduct or poor performance; and
  - be provided with all the information that the employer is considering in relation to the matter under investigation; and
  - v. have the opportunity to explain; and
  - vi. have any explanation properly considered before Glenwood Home decides what action, if any, is to be taken.

#### 29.2. Serious Misconduct

- 29.2.1. Misconduct and serious misconduct may justify disciplinary action.
- 29.2.2. Serious misconduct may justify termination without notice. Examples of behaviour which may amount to serious misconduct include:
  - Serious breaches of work rules or policies.
  - Refusal to carry out reasonable and lawful work instructions.
  - iii. Falsifying information including timesheets, leave requests or any other records.
  - iv. Being at work having consumed or used alcohol or prohibited drugs or under the influence of alcohol or prohibited drugs or bringing alcohol or prohibited drugs to work without approval.
  - v. Unauthorised possession and/or use of our property or information, including any of our documents or electronic data, or the property or information of our clients or of any other employee.
  - vi. Failure to declare any conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest.



- vii. Unauthorised access to or interference with our computer systems including by non-accidental deletion, alteration, copying or damage.
- vili. Failure to observe health and safety rules or procedures including failure to use safety equipment or clothing provided by us.
- Unlawful or unauthorised removal, or misappropriation of money or property, or damage to property.
- x. Leaving the workplace during working hours or falling to report to the assigned workplace without consent,
- xi. Sleeping at work.
- xii. Using offensive, aggressive, belittling, or threatening language or behaviour at the place of work.
- xiii. Fighting, physical abuse or assault.
- xiv. Failure to immediately inform us regarding any material change in an employee's circumstances which could impact the employment relationship, including notification of any pending criminal charges or of any issue under investigation by any professional body that you belong to.
- xv. Failure to meet dress, personal hygiene and grooming standards as outlined in our policy.
- xvi. Misrepresentation of, or any action that undermines (or has the potential to undermine) us or our relationships with our clients or brings (or has the potential to bring) us into disrepute.
- xvii. Any form of harassment, coercion, discrimination, or exploitation, including sexual and racial harassment.
- xviii. Smoking or vaping anywhere other than designated areas.
- xix. Failure to hold or maintain relevant memberships, qualifications, and/or licences as necessary to the employment relationship.
- xx. Any crime, offence, or dishonest act that (in our view) impacts the employment relationship.

#### 29.2.3. In the event of serious misconduct Glenwood Home:

- i. will conduct whatever investigation that is necessary to establish the facts;
- ii. may suspend the employee on pay where appropriate, including:
  - a) while the investigation takes place;
  - b) where either party wishes to obtain legal advice;
  - the employee may pose a risk to the employer's business including the health and safety of the employee or others, or the employer's property or reputation;
- iii. may suspend the employee without pay in accordance with 30.5.1 where the employer's investigation into any matter relating to the employee is delayed for any reason including as a result of police inquiry, investigation or prosecution, or any order made by a judicial body;
- iv. will advise the employee, prior to seeking the employee's explanation, that, if the alleged serious misconduct is found to be proven, the employee may be dismissed with or without notice;
- v. will make the results of any investigation available to the employee;
- vi. will provide the employee with a reasonable opportunity to consider those results; and



- vii. may dismiss the employee with or without notice or take action that falls short of dismissal.
- 29.2.4. The general principles set out in 30.1 still apply.

# 29.3. Cases of poor performance

29.3.1. In such cases Glenwood Home will:

- Inform the employee in writing of the performance standards or behaviours that are required;
- Provide the employee with a reasonable period of time and opportunity to achieve those standards or behaviours; and
- lii. Provide the employee with whatever assistance is reasonable to achieve those standards or behaviours; and
- iv. Inform the employee of the possible consequences if the standards or behaviours are not achieved.
- 29.3.2. The general principles set out in 30.1 still apply.
- 29.3.3. Where, given reasonable time, opportunity, and assistance to achieve the required standards, the employee's performance or behaviour is still unsatisfactory, Glenwood Home may dismiss the employee with notice, or take whatever lesser action is appropriate in the circumstances. However, dismissal shall not take place unless, in terms of 30.3.1 (iv), the employee has been earlier advised that dismissal is a possible consequence of the required standards not being achieved.

#### 29.4. Warning System

- 29.4.1. Where an act of serious misconduct has not resulted in summary dismissal or in cases of less serious misconduct such as lateness, inadequate performance of work etc, the employee may be dealt with in accordance with the warning system and a warning may be issued in any one of the following forms:
- The employee may be given an oral warning which will be recorded in writing and placed on the employee's file, or
- b) The employee may be given a written warning which will be placed on the employee's file, or
- c) The employee may be given a final written warning stating that any future breach or fallure to perform to the required standard(s) may result in dismissal.

#### 29.4.2. Warning System Note:

- Each warning shall state clearly what the employee has done to cause the warning and what is expected to avoid further disciplinary action and a reasonable time frame indicated within which the employee is expected to rectify the fault.
- It shall include the employee's explanation and the reasons why such explanation was not considered satisfactory.

C3 X

- iii. It shall also include a clear statement that failure to complete the corrective action may result in dismissal as well as the employer will give a clear statement of what assistance, where appropriate.
- iv. Progressive warnings under the disciplinary procedure are not restricted to repetitions of the same breach but may be applied in cases of separate breaches of a dissimilar nature.
- v. The employee will be notified in sufficient time prior to any disciplinary meetings so as to allow the employee to be represented if the employee so desires.
- vi. The employee's authorised representative (if the employee has one) shall be notified and given copies of all warnings so issued if the employee requests this.

#### 29.5. Suspension

29.5.1. In the event that the employer considers suspension to be appropriate whilst an investigation is completed, the employer will advise the employee of their right to be represented and must explain why they are proposing to suspend the employee and consider any alternatives to or reasons against the proposed suspension. Such suspension will, in the first instance, be on full pay.

#### 30. SECURITY

30.1. In the circumstances when Gienwood Home need to use surveillance equipment, the provisions of the Privacy Act will be observed.

#### 31. SAFE STAFFING AND HEALTHY WORKPLACES

- 31.1. The parties to this collective agreement agree that all employees should have a safe and healthy workplace. Achieving healthy workplaces requires:
  - Set and enforceable nurse:resident and caregiver:resident ratios to be developed in partnership with staff to ensure safe working conditions.
  - Appropriate levels of staff, skill mix, experience, and resourcing to achieve a match between demand and capacity
  - III. Systems, processes, and work practices that ensure efficient scheduling and a credible, consistent, and timely response to variance in demand
  - iv. A workplace culture between employees and their managers that reflects an understanding and actively advocates a balance between safe quality care, a safe quality work environment and organisational efficiency.
  - v. Recognition that everyone can be a leader by using the authority (expertise) vested in their role to participate and constructively engage with others.
  - vi. The development of a learning culture that emphasizes employees at all levels being given the opportunity to extend their knowledge and skills, as identified in their performance development plans where they are in place.
  - vii. Appreciation that good patient outcomes rely on the whole team and that teams need opportunities to work and plan together.
  - viii. Having the right tools, technology, environment, and work design to support health and safety and to ensure effective health care delivery. This includes the opportunity to be involved in the decisions about what is needed and when.



31.2. To support the above, agreement to participate in Healthy Workplace Meetings at agreed frequency throughout the year, where the employer will work in partnership with staff and the unions to achieve and maintain a safe workplace.

# 32. EMPLOYEE PROTECTION/RESTRUCTURING PROVISIONS

#### 32.1. Introduction

The following provisions apply when the employer's business is to be restructured, and work performed by any or all employees covered by this Collective Agreement is to be performed for a new employer.

### 32.2. Definitions

For the purposes of these provisions "affected employee," "restructuring" and "new employer" shall have the same meaning as in the Employment Relations Amendment Act (No. 2) 2004 (:" ERRA").

## 32.3. Consultation with unions

The employer agrees to consult with the unions that are party to this Collective Agreement over the implications of any restructuring proposal for affected employees as soon as practical.

- 32.4. When consulting with the applicable union, the employer will:
  - a) Provide the union with relevant information about the general nature of the restructuring proposal and details of how it is likely to impact on the affected employees, including the timing of the negotiations and of the implementation of any transaction with the new employer;
  - Notify the Union of all potentially affected employees who are covered by the Agreement;
  - Give the union reasonable time in which to meet and consult with their members and for the affected employees and their union to consider the proposal and its implications, and to make comments and suggestions about it;
  - d) Respond to the submissions (written and/or verbal) of the union and affected employees.
- 32.5. On and from the date on which employees covered by this Collective Agreement elect to transfer to the new employer, the new employer becomes a party to the Collective Agreement in relation to those employees.

# 32.6. Specified categories of employees

Those employees performing cleaning, food catering, or laundry services, who elect to transfer to the new employer, shall automatically become an employee of the new employer on the same terms and conditions as applied immediately before the specified date, including terms and conditions relating to whether the employee is employed fulltime or part-time, and their employment will be treated as continuous, including service-related entitlements.

Employees who are covered under Schedule 1A of the ERA who elect to transfer to the new employer for reasons relating to the restructuring shall be entitled to claim redundancy compensation from the new employer including recognition of their continuous service



#### 32.7. Other employees

With respect to all other employees, the employer shall negotiate with the new employer with a view to establishing whether the new employer can continue to employ all the existing employees on the same terms and conditions of employment, performing the same duties or similar duties that the employee is willing to accept, and including the recognition of each employee's service and contractual entitlements. The employer will advise the union of the success or otherwise of those negotiations.

#### 32.8. Right to elect to transfer

All affected employees must be given a reasonable opportunity to exercise their right to elect to transfer to the new employer, or not to transfer.

#### 32.9. Implications for redundancy compensation of election to transfer

Those employees who elect to transfer to the new employer on the same terms and conditions, and performing the same duties, with full recognition of service-related entitlements as above, shall not be entitled to redundancy compensation from the employer because of the transfer. Any subsequent redundancy from the new employer would include recognition of service with the employer.

#### 32.10, Other Employees

In the case of employees who are not classified as vulnerable workers as described above in "Specified categories of employees", where the new employer makes no offer in accordance with the criteria above (i.e. on the same terms and conditions, with the same duties, and with recognition of continuous service), the employer shall meet with the union to discuss the options available for those affected employees, including:

- a) Whether there are opportunities for redeployment to a position within the organisation on the same terms and conditions and carrying out substantially the same duties or duties which the employee agrees to accept;
- b) Whether the employee shall be offered counselling and/or career coaching;
- c) Whether an employee shall be allowed time off work to attend interviews;
- d) Whether the employee is able to terminate employment prior to termination date with or without payment in lieu.

If the employer is unable to offer a position with the same terms and conditions, the same or similar duties which the employee is willing to accept, and recognition of continuous service, the employee shall:

- Be made redundant on notice; and
- ii. A certificate of service shall be provided; and
- iii. A statement of any outstanding contractual and statutory entitlements up to and including the final day of pay.

#### 32.11. Redundancy

 For the purposes of this agreement "redundancy" is defined as a situation when termination of employment occurs in one or more of the following circumstances;

C3 A

- When the employee's position has become surplus to the employer's requirements;
- When the employee's position is otherwise disestablished as a result of the closing down of all or any part of the employer's business;
- When there is a reduction in work available;
- As a result of any other genuine business decision of the employer.
- 32.12.In the event of a redundancy situation, the period of notice to be given by the employer shall not be less than four (4) Weeks' during which time the employee shall continue to work or be paid in lieu, at the employer's discretion. During the notice period, the employee shall be given reasonable time off to attend interviews for alternative employment without loss of pay.
- 32.13. Redundancy compensation will be paid at the rate of two week's pay for the first year of service (or part-year) and one week's pay for each subsequent year (or part-year) up to a maximum of 20 weeks paid compensation. Weekly earnings will be calculated as per the definition of 'average weekly earnings' in The Holidays Act 2003

When the employer is considering a redundancy situation, the employer shall:

- Advise the union and employees as soon as possible; and
- Consult with the union prior to any decision being made; and
- Make every endeavour to reach agreement on all available options for the employees affected.

#### 33. CONFIDENTIALITY

- 33.1. Glenwood Home employees must adhere to the employers' organisation's confidentiality agreement, whereby they shall not divuige or communicate any confidential information about the employer or the Glenwood Home residents, their families, or whanau.
- 33.2. Access to, and the reproduction of, confidential information is restricted to authorised employees who require such information to fulfil their role unless directed by the facility manager or a board representative.
- 33.3. This restriction extends to the employers' processes, procedures and property and not only remains in force during the period of employment but also the post-employment period.
- 33.4. Information, processes, papers, or documents which an authorized employee has access to during employment or thereafter must not be used without the prior written permission of the facility manager or a board representative.

#### 34. PASS ON

34.1. Any employee who is not a member of the signatory unions to this agreement shall not be eligible to receive an automatic passing on of the benefits of these increased

03 dx

- wages, allowances, and conditions until a period of five (5) months after the ratification date of this agreement.
- 34.2. This shall not prohibit any new employee negotiating an employment contract with the employer. Notwithstanding, all new employees will be joined under the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement for a period of 30 days, after which they may decide whether to negotiate an Individual Employment Agreement or join the Collective Agreement.

#### SIGNATURE OF PARTIES

Signed on behalf of the Employer:

Hazel Harrison General Manager

Date: 28/11/25

Signed on behalf of E tū Incorporated:

Stephen Johnston Organiser

Date: 26/11/25

Signed on behalf of the New Zealand Nurses Organisation:

Gwyn STEUENSON Organiser Date: 10/12/25